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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

MARSHALL DIVISION
§
NETWORK MONITORING LLC, §  Case No.
§
Plaintiff, § JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
§
v. §
§
AGODA COMPANY PTE. LTD., §
§
Defendant. §
§

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Plaintiff Network Monitoring LLC (“Network Monitoring” or “Plaintiff”), for its
Complaint against Defendant Agoda Company PTE. Ltd. (“Agoda” or “Defendant”), alleges as

follows:

THE PARTIES

1. Network Monitoring is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
State of Texas, with its principal place of business located at 100 West Houston Street, Marshall,
Texas 75670.

2. Upon information and belief, Agoda is a corporation organized and existing under
the laws of Singapore, with its principal place of business located at 30 Cecil Street, #19-08
Prudential Tower, Singapore 049712. Defendant may be served with process pursuant to the
provisions of the Hague Convention. Defendant may also be served with process by serving the
Texas Secretary of State at 1019 Brazos Street, Austin, Texas 78701 as its agent for service because
it engages in business in Texas but has not designated or maintained a resident agent for service

of process in Texas as required by statute.
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3. Defendant is a leading provider of online metasearch services for hotels and lodging
throughout the United States. Upon information and belief, Defendant does business in Texas and
in the Eastern District of Texas directly and through intermediaries.

JURISDICTION

4. This is an action for patent infringement arising under the patent laws of the United
States, 35 U.S.C. §§ 1, ef seq. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§§ 1331 and 1338(a).

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant. Defendant regularly conducts
business and has committed acts of patent infringement and/or has induced acts of patent
infringement by others in this Judicial District and/or has contributed to patent infringement by
others in this Judicial District, the State of Texas, and elsewhere in the United States.

6. Defendant is subject to this Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to due process and/or the
Texas Long Arm Statute due at least to its substantial business in this State and Judicial District,
including (a) at least part of its past infringing activities, (b) regularly doing or soliciting business
in Texas, and/or (c) engaging in persistent conduct and/or deriving substantial revenue from goods
and services provided to customers in Texas.

7. For example, Defendant has done and continues to do business in Texas; Defendant
has committed and continues to commit acts of patent infringement in the State of Texas, including
making, using, offering to sell, and/or selling Accused Products in Texas, and/or importing
Accused Products into Texas, including by providing infringing services over the internet,
inducing others to commit acts of patent infringement in Texas, and/or committing at least a
portion of any other infringements alleged herein; and Defendant regularly places its products and

services within the stream of commerce—directly, through subsidiaries, or through third parties—
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with the expectation and knowledge that such products, such as its websites, will be used in Texas
and elsewhere in the United States. Accordingly, Defendant has established minimum contacts
within Texas and purposefully availed itself of the benefits of Texas, and the exercise of personal
jurisdiction over Defendant would not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.

8. For example, Defendant’s website at www.agoda.com is available to users in the

United States and provides accused search and comparison services to users in the United States.

QQ0U0 piusaromes Fights  Avporctronster Todoyscess @ Apacmnts +es R
eieee

HOTELS, RESORTS, HOSTELS &
Get the best prices on 2,000,000+ properties,

0. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because,
among other things, Defendant does not reside in the United States, and thus may be sued in any
judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(¢c)(3).

PATENTS-IN-SUIT AND FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

10.  On June 16, 2015, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally
issued U.S. Patent No. 9,058,416 (the “’416 Patent”) entitled “System and Method for Detecting
and Reporting Online Activity using Real-Time Content-Based Network Monitoring.” A true and

correct copy of the ’416 Patent is available at http://patft.uspto.gov/netacgi/nph-

!https://www.agoda.com/
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Parser?Sect]1=PTO2&Sect2=HITOFF&p=1&u=%2Fnetahtml%2FPTO%2Fsearch-
bool.html&r=1&{=G&1=50&c01=AND&d=PTXT&s1=9,058,416.PN.&OS=PN/9,058,416&RS
=PN/9,058,416.

11. On June 13, 2017, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally
issued U.S. Patent No. 9,680,946 (the “’946 Patent”) entitled “System and Method for Detecting
and Reporting Online Activity using Real-Time Content-Based Network Monitoring” A true and
correct copy of the ’946 Patent is available at http://patft.uspto.gov/netacgi/nph-
Parser?Sect]1=PTO2&Sect2=HITOFF&p=1&u=%2Fnetahtml%2FPTO%2Fsearch-
bool.html&r=1&{=G&1=50&c01=AND&d=PTXT&s1=9,680,946.PN.&OS=PN/9,680,946&RS
=PN/9,680,946.

12.  Network Monitoring is the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title, and interest
to and in the 416 Patent and *946 Patent (together, the “Asserted Patents™), and holds the exclusive
right to take all actions necessary to enforce its rights to the Asserted Patents, including the filing
of this patent infringement lawsuit. Network Monitoring also has the right to recover all damages
for past, present, and future infringement of the Asserted Patents and to seek injunctive relief as
appropriate under the law.

13. The inventions covered by the Asserted Patents were invented by Mr. Patrick
Angeles. The Asserted Patents generally cover systems and methods that report online activity
over public or private networks such as the Internet, and more particularly to a system and method
for capturing information from client-server transmissions over a plurality of clients and one or
more plurality of servers and detecting and reporting the occurrence of an event or transaction
along with its associated attributes using real-time content-based data analysis and attribute

extraction.
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14.  In one exemplary embodiment of the invention, an event tracking system (“ETS”)
tracks and reports a user’s online activity across a number of clients and servers that employ a
content-based event detection and data extraction mechanism to accurately detect events and
extract related data from both static and dynamically generated pages. An embodiment of the
system and method of the present invention makes use of a URL proxy agent to capture HTTP
transmission records between a client and server for the purpose of reporting online activity. The
URL-proxy works by rewriting URLSs, such that the original URL is encoded as part of the path of
the proxy URL. The rewritten URL causes a request to be sent to a URL-proxy. The proxy then
extracts the original URL from the path of the rewritten URL, sends a request to the original host.
The invention thereby provides substantial advantages in tracking online activity by providing an
easily deployed event tracking system that does not require different versions specific to browsers
and operating systems and may capture transaction information across a plurality of web pages
and/or web sites.

15. Defendant is in the business of providing hotel and travel search and comparison
through its website at www.agoda.com, and supporting backend computer systems including, but
not limited to, a web server and a database (collectively the “Accused Infrastructures™). Defendant
practices a method of capturing information about the activity of users that use its search and
comparison services, including to monetize searches (e.g. to implement a cost-per-click model
with booking platforms, hoteliers, and other providers, and/or to otherwise monetize user
information).

16. The Accused Infrastructures provide a user browser with a web page containing a
URL specifying both an address of a tracking system and information that specifies a URL on the

web server. For example, after a user performs a travel search, the Accused Infrastructures
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presents the user with search results consisting of offers or “deals” from participating third-party
Web Servers. Each offer is presented with a corresponding link encoded in a graphical button on
a web page. Each offer link contains a URL appended with additional information relating

specifically to the offer provided by a third-party Web Server and a destination URL on the third-

party Web Server.

2 https://www.agoda.com/search?guid=b9c8ac7e-ec57-4c65-bb10-
546¢d1a2970f&asq=NQVGXW6jsE3tbdY9S%2BqUCpufa9Vwpz6 X1t THq4n%2B9gPt6ScOVY
M%2BOtJvOdzFsuZ%?2FspFlcwxpCBbdwplGZ%2B753 Ae4VzN8hLmFbfNcmJEH3FAh9bdTI
T7eL7iwnu6E2j9S%2FRDtazKH8k4qwb 1xmvjYMnSk%2FM8eVuQYqDHVLhv%2F60NbgjjG
%2BjAYafKUEcXnaxuN01BiymAwtKHel%2BahAqoeBEHb%2BKC2e3zym6tmyvlzCzM%3D
&city=8683&tick=637538747556&locale=en-us&ckuid=6496e0e0-4626-459b-a719-
a36e241cfe44&prid=0&currency=USD&correlationld=49fa8e83-67f6-47cf-9151-
f068a2cb647c&pageTypeld=1&realLanguageld=1&languageld=1&origin=US&cid=1844104&
userld=6496e0e0-4626-459b-a719-
a36e241cfe44&whitelabelid=1&loginLvl=0&storefrontld=3&currencyld=7&currencyCode=US
Dé&htmlLanguage=en-us&culturelnfoName=en-us&machineName=as-crweb-

3007 &trafficGroupld=1&sessionld=wbm5s2df1gdv3lkd4gwpaygsv&trafficSubGroupld=84&aid
=130589&useFullPageLogin=true&cttp=4&isRealUser=true&checkIn=2021-04-
23&checkOut=2021-04-
29&rooms=1&adults=1&children=0&priceCur=USD&los=6&textToSearch=Dallas%20(TX)&p
roductType=-1&travellerType=0&familyMode=off
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17.  The Accused Infrastructures further determine a web server URL from a web page
request upon receipt of a tracking request from a user browser. For example, when the user inputs
and sends search values to the Accused Infrastructures via the browser, the Accused Infrastructures
receive the values and determines one or more search results comprising URLs to offers from
third-party Web Servers based on the received values.

Hyatt Regency Dallas

300 Reunion Boulevard, Dallas City Center, Dallas (TX), United States, 75207 - SEE MAP

. i i y Excellent
Overview Rooms Facilities Guest policies Reviews Map m

/10 (1,712 reviews)

Our lowest price offer

2 Queen Beds

& 2adults

¥ Free Wi-Fi

' Free cancellation before April 22,2021 @

View more room details

"Very nige rooms, clean, madern, spacious and well

equipped.”

A= Garry - April 24,2017

Starts from $ 1 44

Property highlights See all 69 room offers
J
. Hygiene Plus P Check-in/out [express]
This property has self-selected and Hassle-free check in
self-certified the hygiene measures
Learn more
o Close to Reunion Tower v Free cancellation available
Within 100 m of property Free cancellation before April 22,
2021
Popular landmarks m Excellent
Reunion Tower 100 m
o Excellentlocation
Dallas Amtrak Station 180 m
Pegasus Sign 210 m
SEE MAP .
View more

o This property is in high demand!

19 travelers have booked today.

3 https://www.agoda.com/hyatt-regency-dallas 10/hotel/dallas-tx-
us.html?finalPriceView=1&isShowMobileAppPrice=false&cid=1844104&numberOfBedrooms=
&familyMode=false&adults=1&children=0&rooms=1&maxRooms=0&checkIn=2021-04-
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18. The Accused Infrastructures further identify, and extract captured information
indicating that the user browser has requested the web server URL, the captured information stored
within a database. For example, captured information may comprise: (a) input values for pre-
selected categories and sub-categories, and/or (b) passive activity values resulting from browsing
interactions internal or external to the Accused Infrastructures.

19. The Accused Infrastructures further form parameter data based upon pre-
determined selection parameters from the database. For example, parameter data may comprise:
(a) input values for pre-determined selection categories and sub-categories explicitly defined on
the face of the webpage, and/or (b) pre-determined categories defined in a database not explicitly
displayed to the user and corresponding to passive activity resulting from browsing interactions
internal or external to the Accused Infrastructures. On information and belief, Defendant receives
user data and forms parameter values corresponding to pre-determined selections parameters
defined in a database of the Accused Infrastructures, such as within on an Agoda server and/or
data center.*

20. The Accused Infrastructures further encode an original URL as part of the tracking
system URL path to construct at least one rewritten URL. For example, instead of directing a user
directly to the third-party Web Server, the Accused Infrastructures encode an original third-party
Web Server URL corresponding to an offer from the third-party Web Server within an Agoda
URL. After the user exchanges data, via the browser, with the metasearch engine of the Accused

Infrastructures, the Accused Infrastructures the user with search results consisting of offers or

23&isCalendarCallout=false&childA ges=&numberOfGuest=0&missingChild A ges=false&travel
lerType=0&showReviewSubmissionEntry=false&currencyCode=USD&isFreeOccSearch=false
&tspTypes=2,16,8,-1&los=6&searchrequestid=36698bf7-39tb-4c1f-bab1-2¢5d1293fccH.

4 See https://www.agoda.com/info/privacy.html


https://www.agoda.com/info/privacy.html
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“deals” from participating third-party Web Servers. Each offer is presented with a corresponding
link encoded in a graphical button on a web page of the Accused Infrastructures. The offer link
contains an Agoda URL appended with additional information relating specifically to the offer
provided by the third-party Web Server and the destination URL on the third-party Web Server.
The Web Server URL is provided based on the user activity on the Agoda page, such as selection
of the offer on the Agoda page. User selection of each link corresponding to a flight offer, or
“deal,” results in the execution of an Agoda URL which results in an Agoda-side redirect to an
offeror’s website.

21. The Accused Infrastructures further embed the rewritten URLs in the response,
such that a browser request to each of the rewritten URLSs is sent to the tracking system. For
example, the Accused Infrastructures append additional address information (corresponding to a
Web Server offer URL) to an Agoda URL and place the rewritten URL within the response page
presented to the Agoda user in the form of a user-selectable graphical image or button, such that
selection of the user-selectable graphical image or button results in transmission of a request to the
Accused Infrastructures.

22. The Accused Infrastructures further cause the web page specified by the web server
URL to be returned to the User browser. For example, the Accused Infrastructures provide a web
server URL specifying a web page of an offeror (e.g. booking service or hotelier) when a user
selects a link corresponding to an “offer” or “deal.”

23. The Accused Infrastructures further provide a profiling and analysis of at least one
session. For example, the Accused Infrastructures capture and track information from browser

sessions and use the information in site profiling and analysis of those sessions.
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24.  Network Monitoring has at all times complied with the marking provisions of 35
U.S.C. § 287 with respect to the Asserted Patents. On information and belief, prior assignees and
licensees have also complied with the marking provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 287.

COUNT1
(Infringement of the 416 Patent)

25.  Paragraphs | through 24 are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth in
their entireties.

26.  Network Monitoring has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendant to make,
use, offer for sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the 416 Patent.

27. Defendant has directly infringed and continues to directly infringe the 416 Patent,
either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C.
§ 271, by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States products
that satisfy each and every limitation of one or more claims of the 416 Patent. Upon information
and belief, these products include the Accused Infrastructures that practice the methods and
systems covered by the ’416 Patent including, for example, travel metasearch functionality
implemented at the Accused Infrastructures associated with www.agoda.com.  These
infrastructures infringe at least claim 1 of the *416 Patent.

28.  Defendant has and continues to directly infringe at least claim 1 of the *416 Patent
by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States infrastructures
that implement a method of capturing on a computer programmed digital electrical tracking system
information about activity of a user browser accessing a Web server, the method comprising:
providing the user browser with a Web page containing a URL specifying both an address of the
tracking system and information that specifies a URL on the Web server; upon receipt by the

tracking system of a Web page request from the user browser, determining a Web server URL

10
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from the Web page request; identifying and extracting captured information indicating that the
user browser has requested the Web server URL, the captured information stored within a
database; forming parameter data based upon pre-determined selection parameters from the
database; encoding an original URL as part of the tracking system URL path to construct at least
one rewritten URL; embedding the rewritten URLs in the response, such that a browser request to
each of the rewritten embedded URLs is sent to the tracking system; and causing the Web page
specified by the Web server URL to be returned to the user browser.

29.  Defendant has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or more
claims of the 416 Patent by knowingly and intentionally inducing others, including end users and
service providers of the Accused Infrastructures, to directly infringe, either literally or under the
doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United
States products that include infringing technology, such as the Accused Infrastructure that practice
the systems and methods covered by the *416 Patent.

30. Defendant, with knowledge that these products, or the use thereof, infringe the *416
Patent knowingly and intentionally induced, and continues to knowingly and intentionally induce,
direct infringement of the 416 Patent by providing these Accused Infrastructures to end users
and/or service providers for use in an infringing manner.

31. Defendant induced infringement by others, including end users, with the intent to
cause infringing acts by others or, in the alternative, with the belief that there was a high probability
that others, including end users, infringe the 416 Patent, while remaining willfully blind to the
infringement.

32. Network Monitoring has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s direct and

indirect infringement of the 416 Patent in an amount to be proved at trial.

11
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33.  Network Monitoring has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as
a result of Defendant’s infringement of the *416 Patent for which there is no adequate remedy at
law, unless Defendant’s infringement is enjoined by this Court.

COUNT I
(Infringement of the 946 Patent)

34.  Paragraphs 1 through 24 are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth in
their entireties.

35.  Network Monitoring has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendant to make,
use, offer for sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the *946 Patent.

36.  Defendant has directly infringed and continues to directly infringe the *946 Patent,
either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C.
§ 271, by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States products
that satisfy each and every limitation of one or more claims of the *946 Patent. Upon information
and belief, these products include the Accused Infrastructures that practice the methods and
systems covered by the 946 Patent including, for example, travel metasearch functionality
implemented at the Accused Infrastructures associated with www.agoda.com.  These
infrastructures infringe at least claim 1 of the 946 Patent.

37.  Defendant has and continues to directly infringe at least claim 1 of the *946 Patent
by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States infrastructures
that comprise a computer programmed digital electrical tracking system apparatus connected to a
user browser and a Web server on the Internet, the apparatus adapted to: provide the user browser
with a Web page containing a URL specifying both an address of the tracking system and
information that specifies a URL on the Web server; upon receipt by the tracking system of a Web

page request from the user browser, determine a Web server URL from the Web page request;

12
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identify and extract captured information indicating that the user browser has requested the Web
server URL, the captured information stored within one or more databases; form parameter data
based upon pre-determined selection parameters from the one or more databases; encode an
original URL as part of the tracking system’s URL path to construct at least one rewritten URL;
embed the rewritten URLs in a response, such that a browser request to each of the rewritten
embedded URLs is sent to the tracking system; and cause the Web page specified by the Web
server URL to be returned to the user browser; and provide profiling and analysis of at least one
session.

38.  Defendant has indirectly infringed and continues to indirectly infringe one or more
claims of the ’946 Patent by knowingly and intentionally inducing others, including end users and
service providers of the Accused Infrastructures, to directly infringe, either literally or under the
doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United
States products that include infringing technology, such as the Accused Infrastructures that
practice the systems and methods covered by the 946 Patent.

39. Defendant, with knowledge that these products, or the use thereof, infringe the *946
Patent knowingly and intentionally induced, and continues to knowingly and intentionally induce,
direct infringement of the ’946 Patent by providing these Accused Infrastructures to end users
and/or service providers for use in an infringing manner.

40. Defendant induced infringement by others, including end users, with the intent to
cause infringing acts by others or, in the alternative, with the belief that there was a high probability
that others, including end users, infringe the 946 Patent, while remaining willfully blind to the

infringement.

13
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41.  Network Monitoring has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s direct and
indirect infringement of the 946 Patent in an amount to be proved at trial.

42.  Network Monitoring has suffered, and will continue to suffer, irreparable harm as
a result of Defendant’s infringement of the 946 Patent for which there is no adequate remedy at
law, unless Defendant’s infringement is enjoined by this Court.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury for all issues so triable.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Network Monitoring prays for relief against Defendant as follows:
a. Entry of judgment declaring that Defendant has directly and/or indirectly infringed

one or more claims of each Asserted Patent;

b. Entry of judgment declaring that Defendant’s infringement of the Asserted Patents
1s willful;
C. An order awarding damages sufficient to compensate Network Monitoring for

Defendant’s infringement of the Asserted Patents, but in no event less than a reasonable royalty,
including supplemental damages post-verdict, together with pre-judgment and post-judgment
interest and costs;

d. Enhanced damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284;

e. Entry of judgment declaring that this case is exceptional and awarding Network
Monitoring its costs and reasonable attorney fees under 35 U.S.C. § 285;

f. An accounting for acts of infringement;

g. Such other equitable relief which may be requested and to which the Plaintiff is

entitled; and

14



Case 2:21-cv-00145-JRG Document 1 Filed 04/29/21 Page 15 of 15 PagelD #: 15

h. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated: April 29, 2021 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Vincent J. Rubino, 111

Alfred R. Fabricant

NY Bar No. 2219392

Email: ffabricant@fabricantllp.com
Peter Lambrianakos

NY Bar No. 2894392

Email: plambrianakos@fabricantllp.com
Vincent J. Rubino, 111

NY Bar No. 4557435

Email: vrubino@fabricantllp.com
FABRICANT LLP

411 Theodore Fremd Road, Suite 206 South
Rye, New York 10580

Telephone: (212) 257-5797

Facsimile: (212) 257-5796

Justin Kurt Truelove

Texas Bar No. 24013653

Email: kurt@truelovelawfirm.com
TRUELOVE LAW FIRM, PLLC
100 West Houston Street

Marshall, Texas 75670

Telephone: (903) 938-8321
Facsimile: (903) 215-8510

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
NETWORK MONITORING LLC
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